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Shareholders,

Although the past year was still affected by uncertainties 

on international markets that deeply impacted the real eco-

nomies of the individual countries, Chimet (the “Company”) 

continued to report significant volumes, which enabled it to 

achieve record volumes and profits. 

In this scenario, the Company achieved the following excel-

lent margins:

net of the following costs reported in the income statement:

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION € 3.2 million 

WRITEDOWNS OF RECEIVABLES € 4 million

INCOME TAXES (CURRENT AND DEFERRED)  € 8 million

OPERATING INCOME € 25 million

NET PROFIT € 22.2 million
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THE ECONOMY
Global trade volumes steadily weake-

ned in 2018 as protectionism loomed, 

emerging economies suffered from 

vulnerability and tensions were trig-

gered by geopolitical events affected 

the worldwide economy and business 

confidence.

China’s growth slowed down for the 

first time in the past ten years. Althou-

gh the United States’ main economic 

indicators remained strong, risks of 

economic stagnation and of losing its 

position as the world’s top economy 

were apparent, and protectionist tra-

de policies were implemented based 

on direct bilateral trade dialogue with 

the countries of interest. Sanctions 

and strains continue to exist with 

Russia, which is pursuing potential al-

ternative markets in the Far East and 

in the Middle East.

The global economic scenario re-

mains uncertain and troubled by the 

persistence of current and poten-

tial conflict zones (from the crises in 

North Africa and the Middle Eastern 

to those in Latin America and the 

Far East) that could impact product 

demand as well as raw material and 

energy markets.

The euro zone is no exception; it 

continued to grow at a modest pace, 

reporting an average GDP of 1.8%. 

Countries that usually drive growth, 

such as Germany, had slowdowns in 

investments and orders. 

The low, uneven growth was affected 

by uncertainties surrounding the 

United Kingdom’s departure from 

the Euro area (“Brexit”) and rising 

tensions, including of a political natu-

re, among countries in the European 

Union (“EU”), attributable in part to 

the approaching elections, with the 

consequential tendency of special 

interests dominating the various EU 

countries.

The European Central Bank’s deci-

sion to end its bond-buying program 

at the end of 2018 did not affect in-

flation considerably, and the markets 

absorbed the effects gradually and 

smoothly over the course of the year.

While the Italian economy conti-

nued to be burdened by heavy pu-

blic debt, structural inadequacy and 

high unemployment, it had a positive 

trend in the first half of 2018 driven 

by strong exports, which waned and 

stagnated in the second half of the 

year under the strategies of the new 

political groups that won the Italian 

elections.

Italy’s GDP and employment rates 

grew considerably less than those of 

other EU countries in 2018; dome-

stic spending stayed weak and the 

vigorous exports were not enough 

to compensate for slow domestic de-

mand and or to strengthen the coun-

try’s economy.

The government’s economic policy 

decisions, ensuing from the 2018 Ita-

lian elections, have come attack by 

foreign and Italian authorities and 

observers, especially because of the 

budget, deemed by some to be ina-

dequate for reducing the public debt 

and assisting economic development.

However, the performance of some 

sectors of the domestic economy, 

particularly the food and fashion 

industries, and efforts to continue 

with initiatives to assist exports allow 

hope for a reversal of the stagnation 

present at the end of 2018.   
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METAL PRICE 
AND CURRENCY 
TRENDS

2018 was a good year for gold prices, 

which were supported by higher de-

mand as a result of political uncertainty 

in the United States and in Europe, its 

function as a safe haven asset, and large 

purchases by central banks, especially 

in emerging countries. 

 

Although gold prices fell slightly in the 

third quarter of the year, they tended 

to stay around and exceed 1,300 $/oz, 

and in the fourth quarter rose repea-

tedly above that threshold. With scar-

ce or zero inflationary pressure, the 

factors behind the price increase were 

rising demand in India, China and the 

Middle East,  demand from central ban-

ks, especially in emerging companies 

seeking diversification, and decisions 

to invest in a safe haven asset amid in-

ternational uncertainty.  

Despite solid demand from industrial 

sectors, silver stayed on a downward 

trend in 2018 as it did not benefit from 

the speculative and safe haven asset 

positions held by gold.  Silver prices 

dropped considerably in the third quar-

ter of 2018 and then settled at above 

15 $/oz at the end of the year.

 

Palladium was the best-performing 

precious metal. After years of low sup-

ply against rising demand from the car 

industry, it continued to appreciate, 

surpassing platinum prices, which suf-

fered from lower industrial demand. 
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BUSINESS CONDITIONS 
AND DEVELOPMENTS Chimet is the leading chemicals/

metals business operating in the re-

covery and refinement of precious 

metals. Over the years, the range of 

products and services offered to do-

mestic and international customers 

has greatly expanded, diversifying 

from the trading of precious metals to 

the manufacturing and sales of galva-

nic salts for the galvanic-ornamental 

industry, of catalysts for the pharma-

ceutical and petrochemical industry, 

and of serigraphic pastes for the au-

tomobile, electronic and solar energy 

panel industries. 

The Company’s mission is to 

satisfy its customers that as-

sign their metals for refining, 

and to ensure the best return 

possible in terms of quality 

and quantity.

The Company is now able to 

treat all types of industrial 

scrap containing gold, silver, 

platinum, palladium, rho-

dium, ruthenium and iridium, in an 

extremely modern industrial plant 

which provides the best conditions 

for output and is equipped with the 

most advanced environmentally safe 

technology.

Chimet also produces supported ca-

talysts based on precious metals (Pd, 

Rh, Ru). Over the years, Chimet’s Ca-

talyst Division R&D Group has deve-

loped extensive expertise by working 

closely with universities and research 

institutes, undertaking projects ai-

med at improving and developing the 

products and services offered to its 

customers.

The Thick Film Division was started 

up in 1984 out of Chimet’s instinct for 

innovation. The creation of new pro-

duct lines is the result of important 

investments in research and develop-

ment. The first products developed 

were conductive silver-based pastes, 

used to produce heated rear windows 

for the automotive industry. Subse-

quently Chimet expanded its product 

range, creating conductive Ag, Ag/Al 

and Al pastes for the production of si-

licon photovoltaic cells, silver pastes 

for glass and ceramic decoration, and 

silver powders for diamond wheels 

and sintered contacts.

Chimet’s Ecology Division guaran-

tees effective, environmentally safe 

solutions for eliminating waste. The 

technological standards of Chimet’s 

investment program are superior to 

those set by Italian legislation and EU 

directives.

The abatement equipment used to 

dispose properly of all kinds of wa-

ste produced by the processing cycle 

is among the most advanced in the  

world.

Emission levels are continually moni-

tored and testing is carried out imme-

diately. Chimet is committed to envi-

ronmental sustainability, and places 

high socio-economical value on de-

veloping the business in this 

respect. The technical trai-

ning of its staff and its safety 

features make the Ecology 

Division a reliable partner 

for the thermodestruction of 

hazardous and toxic waste. 

Chimet possesses all the au-

thorizations required by law 

for the collection, storage 

and treatment of waste. 

In compliance with Article 2428 of 

the Italian Civil Code, it is reported 

that operations take place in the fol-

lowing branch offices:

•     Thick Film and Catalysts 

        division - loc. Viciomaggio, 

        via di Pescaiola 74 

        Civitella in Val di Chiana (Arezzo)

•     Vicenza branch - viale Anconetta  

        49c/b, Vicenza.
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DEMAND AND 
MARKET TRENDS

Despite the persistence of competi-

tive pressures and a reduced supply 

of used gold in Italy, the demand for 

precious metals continued to grow 

beyond all expectations: investors’ 

strong interest in gold shows no sign 

of waning, quite the contrary. De-

mand for gold reached very high le-

vels in 2018, although demand for 

the “safe-haven” asset was below 

expectations despite the presence of 

many global political uncertainties.

According the World Gold Council, 

purchases by central banks, whose 

volumes were the highest of the past 

fifty years, and the pursuit of safe ha-

ven investments to protect from mar-

ket volatility were factors that pu-

shed up the demand for gold in 2018. 

Globally, demand rose by 4% to 4,345 

tons, while gold prices did not fluctua-

te much in 2018 apart from the end-

of-year rally provoked by Brexit con-

cerns, the stock market decline and 

expectations of an aggressive Federal 

Reserve monetary policy. The trend 

continued into the first month of the 

year, with prices rising to their hi-

ghest since May. 

While gold investments benefited 

from weaker economic prospects, the 

Chinese slowdown and price increa-

ses began to adversely affect finished 

products, such as jewelry. Purchases 

fell in the third quarter and they will 

probably face additional declines. 

The central banks of Russia and Ka-

zakistan should continue to buy gold, 

and there will probably be more ETF 

streams. 

In this market scenario, the Company 

continued to achieve significant vo-

lumes, and closed the year with very 

important margins and total revenues 

of nearly €2.5 billion (up by €300 mil-

lion or 14%).

Precious metal demand enabled to in-

crease the volumes of subcontracted 

work, particularly for platinum 

(+20%) and palladium (+10%), than-

ks in part to the stress to which the 

prices of such metals was subjected, 

especially palladium.

Global manufacturing output rose by 

6% compared with the prior year. 

The best-performing geographical 

areas were the EU (+23% compared 

with the prior year) and Italy, up by 

20%, whereas the market outside the 

EU maintained steady volumes.
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RECLASSIFIED INCOME STATEMENT DATA 
(IN THOUSANDS OF EUROS)

INCOME 
STATEMENT

31-dic-18 31-dic-17 Change

€/1000 % €/1000 % €/1000 %

SALES 2.380.721 100% 2.081.310 100% 299.410 14,4%

COSTS OF SALES (2.323.369) (97,6%) (2.024.884) (97,3%) (298.485) 14,7%

GROSS MARGIN 57.352 2,4% 56.427 2,7% 925 1,6%

OTHER OPERATING 
COSTS

(22.719) (1,0%) (21.780) (1,0%) (939) 4,3%

EBITDA 34.633 1,5% 34.646 1,7% (14) (0,0%)

DEPRECIATIONS (3.255) (0,1%) (3.355) (0,2%) 100 (3,0%)

OTHER PROVISIONS (5.482) (0,2%) (3.080) (0,1%) (2.402) 78,0%

EBIT 25.896 1,1% 28.211 1,4% (2.315) (8,2%)

FINANCIAL RESULT 1.406 0,1% (74) (0,0%) 1.479 (2008,4%)

OTHER INCOME/(COSTS) 3.093 0,1% (645) (0,0%) 3.737 (579,8%)

TAXATION (8.156) (0,3%) (7.623) (0,4%) (533) 7,0%

NET PROFIT 22.238 0,9% 19.871 1,0% 2.368 11,9%

The Company had record revenues of €2.4 billion (+14% 

from the prior year) and a record profit of €22 million (+11% 

from the prior year). This was achieved with greater quan-

tities handled and higher demand for palladium due to the 

price curve.

Variable costs rose in line with the revenues, so EBITDA, 

which indicates a company’s revenues solely from operating 

activities and provides a rapid approximation of the cash 

flows generated, remained substantially consistent with the 

prior year amount at approximately € 35 million.

The policy of safeguarding assets, due to the impact of the 

economic situation and the planned environmental costs, re-

quired additional provisions of € 2.4 million, so the operating 

income (EBIT) fell by approximately the same amount. 

The profitability and solvency ratios remained high, as re-

ported in the notes to the financial statements.

The return on equity (ROE) is consistent with that of the 

prior year at 12%, demonstrating the Company’s ability to 

produce income for its shareholders under its consistent ca-

pitalization strategy.

The rate of profit in terms of the return on investments (ROI) 

was approximately 10%, an excellent level even with respect 

to the average market data, and confirms the Company’s abi-

lity to generate income from the industrial activity despite 

substantial, ongoing investing activities which naturally in-

volve considerable overheads. 

As a result of the foregoing, after taxes of some € 9 million, 

the net profit is more than € 22 million, up by 12%.

The following graph presents the performance indicators.
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FINANCIAL CONDITION

The balance sheet continues to feature a prevalence of 

short-term aggregates: the net working capital rose by € 21 

million (+13%) from the prior year to more than € 176 mil-

lion, mainly as a result of the increase in inventories and de-

crease in short-term bank borrowings. 

The net financial indebtedness is € 19 million, a reduction of 

€ 14 million from that of the prior year.

Chimet continues to achieve good financial ratios, confirming its capacity to finance growth with its own funds; all its net invest-

ments are financed with funds provided internally (74% financial independence).

 That said, the current ratio improved (3.91 versus the 3.52 

of the prior year), as did the quick ratio (2.04 versus 1.82), 

and they still represent an excellent financial situation. The 

equity coverage ratio demonstrates that equity covers more 

than 12.5 times the fixed assets, confirming the Company’s 

very solid financial condition.

CURRENT ASSETS

PAYABLES

250.000.000

200.000.000

150.000.000

100.000.000

50.000.000

31/12/2017 31/12/2018
Italian Civil Code Article 2423 requires including a cash flow 

statement in the financial statements. 

The cash flow statement facilitates the analysis of cash flows 

deriving from business operations within a set time period. 

It enables to assess the cash and cash equivalents genera-

ted and absorbed by operating activities and the methods 

of using/covering them, and the company’s ability to meet 

short-term financial obligations and to finance itself.

The operating cash flow, before changes in working capital, 

increased to € 38 million from the € 33 million of 2017. The 

absorption of net working capital is consistent with that of 

the prior year, resulting in a cash flow from operating acti-

vities of € 18 million (up by € 5 million compared with 2017). 

A cash flow of € 12 million was generated -- corresponding to 

the reduction of the net financial debt -- as presented in the 

Statement of Cash Flows.
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CAPITAL 
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

A few years ago the Company drew up and approved an im-

portant plan for development and investment: the project 

for “expansion, ecological restoration and re-landscaping of 

Chimet’s Badia al Pino factory”.

The plan has naturally been submitted to “Valutazione d’Im-

patto Ambientale” (“V.I.A.” - Environmental Impact Asses-

sment or “EIA”).

THE PROPOSED PLAN 
HAS TWO MAIN OBJECTIVES:

The above objectives could be attained through a series of 

initiatives focusing on three main aspects:

           an increase in total volumes;

           environmental and landscape restoration works both 

           within and outside the factory perimeter;

           rationalization of the current equipment, new layouts 

           and installation of the following new plants:

In the Refining division (chemical processing and refinement 

of precious metals), the installation of plants similar to tho-

se already present are being planned (double reaction and/

or concentration layers, tanks, electrolytic cells, new abate-

ment equipment, etc.).

The project will naturally have a significant impact on local 

employment.

The project will be achieved using the “Best Available Te-

chniques”, and will comply with the applicable national and 

regional rules and regulations in force on hazardous and 

To increase the quantities of special 

waste, both toxic and non-toxic, that 

are treated and stored at the Badia al 

Pino factory.

To restore the ecological balance and 

natural landscape to the factory site.

non-hazardous waste, atmospheric emissions, noise impact, 

protection of water, the ground surface and the sub-surface, 

and landscape preservation. 

With a resolution passed on January 21, 2019, the Regional 

Council of Tuscany ruled favorably on the environmental 

compatibility of the plan for the “extension of production 

activity of the recovery of precious metals from special ha-

zardous and non-hazardous waste” submitted by the Com-

pany.

After a long process involving entities such as the ASL, the 

Municipality of Civitella, ARPAT and the Region of Tuscany 

and which included a public investigation, with the partici-

pation of the local community Chimet obtained the positi-

ve ruling on environmental compatibility for a cutting-edge 

project from an engineering and operating point of view, 

centered on environmental matters, that should create jobs 

and well-being through concrete application of the princi-

ples of the circular economy.

While reviewing its business plan in the light of the most ef-

ficient positioning of the business strategies, the Company 

continued with its policy of the past few years of supporting 

the manufacturing activity and investing in environmen-

tal protection with high-quality processes, which involved 

gross capital expenditures of more than € 5 million in the 

year, some of which were financed internally and some with 

bank borrowings. 

The 2018 investments regarded the following, in addition to 

those referred to above:

NEW FLOTATION PLANT

NEW BAG FILTER FOR SECTOR C

REVAMPING OF SECTOR PROCESSING

NEW TECHNICAL OFFICE PREMISES
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ENVIRONMENTAL 
POLICIES 
information required by Legislative Decree 32/2007

UNI EN ISO 9001:2008
UNI CEI ISO/IEC 14001:2004

CERTIQUALITY IS A MEMBER 
OF CISQ  FOUNDATION

Chimet is an ecological factory that 

has obtained certification under the 

UNI EN ISO 9001 standard and is cur-

rently working on obtaining an even 

higher level of ecological certifica-

tion, the UNI EN ISO 14001 standard.

As well as complying with current 

environmental regulations, the Com-

pany is implementing even stricter 

measures, investing in higher techno-

logical standards than those required 

by law, for the continuous and safe 

monitoring of environmental pro-

tection.

Chimet has developed a unique clo-

sed-loop processing cycle to integra-

te precious metal recovery with wa-

ste disposal.

In fact, sophisticated systems are 

used to eliminate fumes and particles 

and to purify water, which enable to 

offer eco-compatible systems for the 

treatment and disposal of waste. In 

the end, what remains of the waste is 

an inert material similar to obsidian, 

harmless and non-polluting. 

In accordance with the policies set up 

by management, Chimet continues to 

improve its manufacturing efficiency 

and effectiveness, with a special fo-

cus on environmental issues. 

The environmental management of 

the three sites located in Badia al 

Pino, Viciomaggio and Vicenza featu-

res legislative compliance, sustainabi-

lity and ongoing improvement.

An environmental audit is performed 

annually by Certiquality S.p.A.

In 2019 the audit will concern main-

tenance of the Company’s ISO 14001 

environmental management certifi-

cation and ISO 9001 quality mana-

gement certification, and renewal of 

the Environmental Statement under 

Regulation (EC) 2018/2026. The new 

regulation (EMAS2) introduces seve-

ral changes for the contents of the 

Environmental Statement, including 

a description of the organization’s 

governance structure, a description 

of the actions implemented to ensure 

compliance with regulatory obliga-

tions and to improve environmental 

performance, adoption of the “total 

renewable energy production” indi-

cator and adoption of detailed biodi-

versity indicators regarding land use.

With respect to the Integrated En-

vironmental Authorization (“IEA”) 

issued in December 2013 by the Pro-

vince of Arezzo for the Badia al Pino 

site, two new updates were issued in 

2015 with the definition of the new 

emissions framework and monitoring 

and control plan with compliance with 

the new regulations that came into 

effect in 2015 (such as Title III bis, 

part IV of Italian Legislative Decree 

152/2006), a considerable reduction 

of the air emission limits for some pa-

rameters (such as total particles and 

sulfur dioxide), and the addition of the 
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ammonia parameter with the related 

limit for the emissions of the two in-

cinerators.

In 2018 the IEA requirements for the 

Badia al Pino factory regarding the 

new flotation plant inspected in the 

first half 2018 were met. 

The study to determine the final de-

stination of the flotation waste dump, 

a IEA requirement, was completed in 

2018. The plan to empty the dump 

and send the slag there to firms qua-

lified to recover it as a secondary raw 

material for the production of bricks 

and concrete will be submitted in the 

first half of 2019. The emptying part 

of the plan is expected to be carried 

out in 2020.

The 2018 Annual IEA report was filed 

within the prescribed time limit.

The Monitoring and Control Plan, re-

ported in the Integrated Environmen-

tal Authorization, was implemented 

in all atmospheric emission points. 

Every 15 days the website www.chi-

met.com publishes the continuous 

monitoring results of the emissions 

produced by the 2 waste thermo-

destuction plants (DC0002 and 

BC0006).

In January 2019 the Region of Tu-

scany issued a favorable opinion for 

the Environmental Impact Asses-

sment or “EIA” process regarding 

the Extension Plan for recovering 

precious metals at the Badia al Pino 

factory. The entire Extension Plan 

should be carried out within seven 

years. 

The Integrated Environmental Au-

thorization review was initiated for 

adopting the new Best Available Tec-

niques (“BAT”) for the “waste treat-

ment” sector, whose documentation 

will be submitted to the Region of Tu-

scany by September 2019.

Concerning soil contamination, in 

2006 the Municipality of Civitella in 

Val di Chiana approved the Prelimi-

nary Decontamination Plan to ren-

der the phreatic layer operationally 

safe and to monitor it. The layer was 

monitored on a quarterly basis as re-

quired in the Integrated Environmen-

tal Authorization. In 2018 the report 

analyzing the monitored data was 

submitted.

The following disclosures are repor-

ted with respect to the other informa-

tion required under Italian Legislative 

Decree 32/2007.

MANDATORY DISCLOSURES 
CONCERNING PERSONNEL 

During the reporting period there were no:

MANDATORY DISCLOSURES 
CONCERNING THE ENVIRONMENT 

In the year there were no:

Deaths of employees listed in the company’s employee 

register for which the Company has been found liable;

Serious industrial accidents causing severe or critical 

injuries to employees listed in the Company’s employ

register for which the Company has been found liable;

Costs for occupational diseases of employees or former 

employees or lawsuits for tormented workers (“mob-

bing”), for which the Company has been found guilty in 

a final verdict. 

With respect to the legal proceedings initiated in 2007, it 

is recalled that the Italian Supreme Court of Appeal over-

turned all convictions, both criminal and civil, against the 

Company’s President. The most serious allegations had been 

dropped in the first-instance ruling; the lower Court of Ap-

peal had confirmed that the charge of “environmental disa-

ster risk” was groundless. 

Damages caused to the environment for which the 

Company has been found guilty in a final verdict;

Sanctions or penalties imposed on the Company for en-

vironmental violations or damages.
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RESEARCH AND 
DEVELOPMENT AIn accordance with Article 2428, pa-

ragraph 2, n. 1, it is reported that the 

Company places ever-greater impor-

tance on research and development 

activities through collaboration with 

leading Italian universities, and spe-

cialized internal personnel is increa-

singly dedicated to such activities.

Research and development is con-

ducted in a continuous, daily process, 

and accompanies normal business 

operations year after year; hence, 

research and development is strictly 

related to normal business operations 

and is capable of developing, along 

with them, a virtuous cycle in which 

the development of know-how makes 

the Company more efficient and ef-

fective, and stimulates new learning 

processes.

Research has always been a priority 

for Chimet, and has enabled it to be-

come an industry leader; innovation 

has permitted the Company to resol-

ve issues regarding hazardous waste 

disposal, and to combine ecological 

and safety demands with the best 

possible production yield. 

The result is a mix of efficiency and 

sustainability for all Chimet’s opera-

tions.

Research studies conducted with im-

portant universities and public enti-

ties were continued during the year 

and regarded in particular Chimet’s 

production of finished products (ca-

talysts and serigraphic pastes) and 

the processing of platinum-group 

metals (platinum, palladium and rho-

dium).

Other R&D projects are pursued 

using the most technologically advan-

ced equipment and with the aim of re-

ducing the environmental impact.

In the year under review R&D activi-

ties were conducted in the catalyst 

and serigraphic paste divisions to de-

velop the following projects:

Development of new catalyst 

characterization methods 

Development of a palladium ca-

talyst supported on extruded 

granular carbon for the MCA 

process

Development of a palladium ca-

talyst supported on alpha alu-

minum

Development of a platinum ca-

talyst for oxidation in water tre-

atment

Development of a platinum 

catalyst supported on carbon 

powder for isomerization

Optimization of high-purity sil-

ver serigraphic paste for heated 

windshields

Reduction of residual stress in 

serigraphic pastes for heated 

rear windows

Development of a new flexible 

serigraphic conductor

Development of a new flexible 

serigraphic resister
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Receivables Payables Sales Purchases

Unoaerre Industries S.p.A. 27.819.328 111.237.409 18.817.685

TRANSACTIONS 
WITH RELATED PARTIES

Pursuant to Italian Civil Code Article 

2497-bis, it is reported that Chimet 

is subject to management and coor-

dination by Zeor Finanziaria S.p.A., 

located in Rome, which prepares 

consolidated financial statements 

pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 

n. 127/1991, Article 27 and shall file 

them at the Rome Companies Regi-

ster, and whose consolidation scope 

has included Unoaerre Industries 

S.p.A. and its foreign subsidiaries sin-

ce December 27, 2012, so such com-

panies are considered entities under 

common control.

No trade or financial transactions 

were carried out with the parent 

company.

The € 2.8 million payable recognized 

in the accounts represents the por-

tion of dividends decided upon in pre-

vious periods, but not distributed yet.

Chimet has transactions with Unoa-

erre Industries S.p.A. for the supply of 

refining services and precious metals. 

Unoaerre Industries S.p.A. is conside-

red a related party according to Civil 

Code Article 2427, n. 22 bis, due to 

the presence of three Directors, one 

of whom has decisional powers in 

both companies. All transactions, in 

both quantitative and qualitative ter-

ms, with Unoaerre Industries S.p.A. 

are carried out on an arm’s length ba-

sis, taking into consideration the type 

of goods (listed metals) and services 

provided.

The transactions and balances with 

such company are summarized below:

OWN SHARES AND PARENT 
COMPANY SHARES

The Company does not own its own or parent company shares, either through trust companies or third parties.

INFORMATION REQUIRED BY ARTICLE 2428, 
PARAGRAPH 2, POINT 6-BIS OF THE 
ITALIAN CIVIL CODE

In accordance with Article 2428, paragraph 2, point 6-bis of 

the Italian Civil Code, the following information is provided 

concerning the use of financial instruments, considered ma-

terial to the evaluation of the Group’s financial position and 

performance.

The Company’s policy is to avoid speculative financial ope-

rations.

The following information is provided concerning the risk 

mitigation policies, considered material to the evaluation of 

the Group’s financial position and performance.

Management has the objective of managing and limiting the 

financial risks connected with:

Credit risk;

Currency risk, as the Company has transactions 

with foreign companies in foreign currency, mainly  

U.S. dollars;

Liquidity risk;

Market risk.

Credit risk  

The Company’s financial assets are considered to be of good 

credit quality, except for certain trade receivables (due from 

customers), which are considered to represent a normal por-

tion of such receivables; such accounts have few or no pro-

spects of being collected given the insolvency proceedings 

in progress.

For these financial assets that are deemed irrecoverable, 

a specific provision for doubtful debts has been allocated 

equal to the estimated credit losses. 

Currency risk 

In order to manage currency risk, the daily exchange rates 

are monitored constantly and forward currency (purchase/

sales) contracts are stipulated with banks.

On the reporting date the Company had a credit balance of 

foreign currency (USD) deposits which, translated at the De-

cember 31 exchange rate, resulted in a translation loss. The 

foreign currency deposits are exchanged constantly, crea-

ting realized gains or losses on currency exchange.

At the end of the year no forward currency purchase or sales 

contracts were in place to hedge purchase orders in foreign 

currency designated for delivery in the current year.

Liquidity risk 

Debt instruments and credit lines are in place for meeting 

payment obligations. The related cash resources are con-

stantly monitored and planned. 

Market risk

Information on this type of risk is provided at the beginning 

of this report.
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INFORMATION REQUIRED 
BY DECREE LAW 34/2019, ARTICLE 35 
REGULATING THE TRANSPARENCY 
OF GOVERNMENT GRANTS

In compliance with the transparency legislation concerning government grants, it is disclosed that the Company did not receive 

any benefits, subsidies, grants, paid engagements or other economic benefits contemplated by Law 124/2017, Article 1, para-

graph 25.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
AND BUSINESS OUTLOOK

In 2019 the Company shall continue 

to strengthen its existing structures 

in terms of environmental protection 

and technological development, in 

keeping with the business plan, which 

will enable to adapt and consolidate 

the structures to meet the greater 

production demands. 

The volumes achieved in the first 

quarter are in line with forecasts and 

indicate stability, with particularly 

promising signs in certain segments.

With a resolution passed on January 

21, 2019, the Regional Council of Tu-

scany ruled favorably on the environ-

mental compatibility of the Environ-

mental Impact Assessment or “EIA” 

application regarding the plan for the 

“extension of production activity of 

the recovery of precious metals from 

special hazardous and non-hazardous 

waste” submitted by the Company.

The plan derives from the work of a 

group of experts coordinated by Prof. 

Leonardo Tognotti, a professor of civil 

and industrial engineering at the Uni-

versity of Pisa.

The project envisions, on one hand, 

an increase in the quantity of reco-

very waste to be treated and an in-

crease in the total number of working 

hours, and on the other hand, plant 

modifications, new technologies (the 

most advanced on the market), and 

reorganization of areas dedicated to 

workers such as the cafeteria, chan-

ging rooms, technical offices and par-

king lots.

Important mitigation and compensa-

tion works benefiting the local com-

munity and the environment are part 

of the plan, including planting new 

green spaces, installing sound absor-

bing partitions, and implementing a 

feasibility project for remote heating 

using thermal waste from the plant. 

In 2019, the administrative process 

commenced to obtain the Integrated 

Environmental Authorization, consi-

sting of two phases.

In the first, immediate phase, stora-

ge will increase from 335 to 1,000 

tons. This change is requested for 

organizational and operational pur-

poses and will not involve any type 

of technical intervention because it is 

compatible with the current capacity 

of the authorized plants. In this pha-

se, the quantity of waste accepted for 

treatment will increase from 12,500 

to 17,000 tons, with a maximum set 

by Chimet in the EIA application of 

just 8,000 annual tons in the thermal 

destruction sector. The rest will be 

treated in the precious metal reco-

very sector. Moreover, an increase 

in the total working hours of some 

sectors designated for precious metal 

recovery is requested.

The second phase involves carrying 

out the definitive project over 5 years 

from the approval. The time is needed 

to work on equipment in the sectors 

designated for precious metal reco-

very and for some construction work.

Rising demand for precious metal 

recovery from spent catalysts and 

catalytic converters has created the 

need for industrial restructuring of 

the sectors dedicated to such acti-

vities. When at full capacity, Chimet 

will be able to treat up to 24,000 tons 

of special hazardous and non-ha-

zardous waste. This second phase is 

expected to limit the annual waste 

designated for thermal destruction to 

8,000 tons.

In Division B, where recovery from 

industrial waste is handled, three fur-

naces are to be added to the current 

furnaces in order to expand the po-

tential of recovery from carbon-ba-

sed catalysts. The equipment is inten-

ded to recover the maximum quantity 

of precious metals, so its productivity 

is low.

In Division C a new flue gas abate-

ment system and the building of three 

furnaces, one of which replaces a pre-

vious one, are foreseen for melting 

metals arriving from Divisions A and 

B, for a maximum quantity of 12,285 

tons per year.

Chimet also envisions installing a la-

test-generation cogeneration plant to 

produce electricity with natural gas. 

This will be an important improve-

ment with significant positive effects. 

The system, in generating electrici-

ty for internal use, will also produce 

water and steam, which will be fully 

recycled, including for a hypothetical 

future supply of hot water to approxi-

mately 300 families in Badia al Pino.

Chimet has also envisioned archi-

tectural and landscape improvemen-

ts, and the elimination of all types 

of civil and industrial wastewater 

discharges outside the plant, after 

the rainwater has been completely 

recycled.

Chimet is increasingly driven to 

recycle waste in pursuit of the Euro-

pean objectives of the circular eco-

nomy. The project will lead to more 

incoming waste, but 90% of the out-

going material is in the form of waste 

used in equipment that produces raw 

materials for cement production. 

Saline water produced in the metal 

recovery processing cycle serves to 

cool the fumes in the incineration 

phase, instead of running water. The 

salts contained in the water crystal-

lize through evaporation and are re-

covered and sent to third parties for 

recycling. The rest of the saline water 

is disposed of in authorized plants. 

Precious metals obtained from ca-

stings go back to being a raw material 

available for sale, in observance of 

end-of-waste criteria.
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ALLOCATION 
OF PROFIT

Shareholders,

The path taken appears without a doubt to be the right one 

for obtaining the best medium-term results, and the effor-

ts and intentions have been accompanied by results upon 

which appropriate, environmentally sustainable growth 

can be based and ensured in the medium term.

In consideration of the foregoing and of the reports of the 

Board of Statutory Auditors and of the independent audi-

ting firm, BDO S.p.A., we recommend the approval of the 

Financial Statements together with the Report on Opera-

tions, and of the following resolutions for the allocation of 

the net profit:

Thank you for your confidence. We request your approval 

of the financial statements as submitted.

Board of Directors

The Chairman

TO THE RESERVE FOR UNREALIZED GAINS ON 
CURRENCY EXCHANGE AS PER CIVIL CODE ARTICLE 
2426, N. 8-BIS THROUGH RECLASSIFICATION TO THE 
EXTRAORDINARY RESERVE

337.350 euro

TO THE EXTRAORDINARY RESERVE 21.882.241 euro

NET PROFIT 22.219.591 EURO

Headquarters in Civitella in  Val di Chiana

Tax identification number 00155440514

REA number AREZZO - SIENA 61012

VAT number 00155440514

Share capital Euro 7,000,000,00 fully paid in

Legal status Joint stock company

Classification of economic activity (ATECO) 244100

Company in liquidation No

Single-Member Company No

Company subject to management and

coordination by others
Yes

Name of company that exercises

management and coordination
ZEOR FINANZIARIA SPA

Member of corporate group Yes

Name of parent company

Country of parent company

Cooperative registration number

The amounts are expressed in Euros

CORPORATE DATA CHIMET SPA
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS OF
DECEMBER 31, 2018
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 A) RECEIVABLES FROM SHAREHOLDERS FOR SHARE CAPITAL STILL TO BE PAID IN 0 0

B) NON-CURRENT ASSETS

      I - Intangible assets

            1) Installation and expansion costs 361.464 0

            3) Patent and intellectual property rights 7.900 11.850

            4) Concessions, licenses, trademarks and similar rights 163.832 112.332

            6) Intangible assets under development and advances 0 349.111

            7) Other intangible assets 4.676 7.014

      Total intangible assets (I) 537.872 480.307

      II - Property, plant and equipment

            1) Land and buildings 5.389.978 5.808.857

            2) Plant and machinery 4.898.707 2.633.352

            3) Industrial and commercial equipment 233.929 162.867

            4) Other tangible assets 667.380 570.105

            5) Tangible assets under development and advances 1.107.953 2.801.276

      Total property, plant and equipment (II) 12.297.947 11.976.457

      III - Non-current financial assets

            1) Equity investments

                  b) Associates 59.314 59.314

                  d-bis) Other undertakings 244.237 244.237

                  Total equity investments (1) 303.551 303.551

            2) Receivables            

                  d-bis) Other receivables

                        Due after next year 4.383 3.783

                  Total other receivables 4.383 3.783

            Total receivables (2) 4.383 3.783

      Total non-current financial assets (III) 307.934 307.334

Total non-current assets (B) 13.143.753 12.764.098

C) CURRENT ASSETS

      I) Inventories

            1) Raw and ancillary materials and consumables 112.768.844 104.212.972

            4) Finished products 656.638 438.688

      Total inventories (I) 113.425.482 104.651.660

II) Receivables

            1) Trade receivables

                  Due within next year 62.191.828 66.633.329

            Total trade receivables (1) 62.191.828 66.633.329

            5) Due from other subsidiaries of the parent

                  Due within next year 27.819.328 26.249.056

            Total receivables due from other subsidiaries of the parent 27.819.328 26.249.056

            5-bis) Tax credits

                 Due within next year 1,053,448 1,628,841

BALANCE SHEET - ASSETS Dec, 31, 2018 Dec, 31, 2017

                  Due after next year 1.053.448 1.628.841

            Total tax credits 2,268,760 1,393,961

            5-ter) Deferred tax assets 1,393,961 3,621,426

            5-quater) Other receivables

                  Due within next year 16.997.353 14.125.744

                  Due after next year 1.716.540 1.699.147

            Total other receivables 18.713.893 15.824.891

      Total receivables 112.047.257 111.730.078

      III - Current financial assets 60.000 0

            Total current financial assets (III) 60.000 0

      IV - Cash and bank balances

            1) Bank and postal deposits 12.925.496 1.444.666

            3) Cash and cash equivalents on hand 10.623 7.922

      Total cash and bank balances (IV) 12.936.119 1.452.588

Total current assets (C) 238.468.858 217.834.326

D) ACCRUED INCOME AND PREPAID EXPENSES 208.175 231.956

TOTAL ASSETS 251.820.786 230.830.380

BALANCE SHEET - ASSETS Dec, 31, 2018 Dec, 31, 2017

BALANCE SHEET - LIABILITIES Dec, 31, 2018 Dec, 31, 2017

A) EQUITY

      I - Share capital 7.000.000 7.000.000

      II - Share premium reserve 708.321 708.321

      III - Revaluation reserve 3.617.438 3.617.438

      IV - Legal reserve 1.400.000 1.400.000

      V - Statutory reserves 0 0

      VI - Other reserves, disclosed separately

            Extraordinary reserve 150.888.115 130.910.642

            Reserve for unrealized foreign exchange gains 0 106.881

            Other sundry reserves (1) (1)

      Total other reserves 150.888.114 131.017.522

      VII - Cash flow hedge reserve 0 0

      VIII - Retained earnings/(losses) 0 0

      IX - Profit/(loss) for the year 22.219.591 19.870.591

      X - Reserve for treasury shares 0 0

Total equity (A) 185.833.464 163.613.872

B) PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES

      1) For retirement benefits and similar obligations 64.880 62.888

      2) For taxes, including deferred tax 404.604 404.604

      4) Other provisions 4.000.000 2.750.000

 4.469.484 3.217.492
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BALANCE SHEET - LIABILITIES Dec, 31, 2018 Dec, 31, 2017

C) PROVISION FOR POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (“TFR”) 970.096 986.047

D) PAYABLES

      4) Due to banks

            Due within next year 31.332.373 32.997.362

      Total payables due to banks (4) 31.332.373 32.997.362

      5) Due to other financiers

            Due within next year 1.622.222 1.622.222

            Due after next year 0 1.622.222

      Total payables due to other financiers (5) 1.622.222 3.244.444

      7) Trade payables

            Due within next year 18.667.419 20.234.540

      Total trade payables (7) 18.667.419 20.234.540

      11) Due to parent companies

            Due within next year 2.878.400 2.878.400

      Total payables due to parent companies (11) 2.878.400 2.878.400

      11-bis) Due to other subsidiaries of the parent

            Due within next year 2.740 7.366

      Total payables due to other subsidiaries of the parent (11-bis) 2.740 7.366

      12) Current tax liabilities

            Due within next year 3.878.059 519.056

      Total current tax liabilities (12) 3.878.059 519.056

      13) Social security

            Due within next year 279.812 272.231

      Total social security payables (13) 279.812 272.231

      14) Other payables

            Due within next year 1.872.618 2.839.696

      Total other payables (14) 1.872.618 2.839.696

Total payables (D) 60.533.643 62.993.095

E) ACCRUED EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME 14.099 19.874

TOTAL LIABILITIES 251.820.786 230.830.380

A) VALUE OF PRODUCTION

      1) Revenues from sales and services 2.380.720.741 2.081.310.274

      2) Change in inventories of work in progress, semi-finished
     products and finished products

217.950 89.401

      4) Increases in fixed assets due to internally produced work 2.797.649 5.070.115

      5) Other income

            Grants for operating expenses 0 19.382

            Other 4.135.541 474.083

      Total other income (5) 4.135.541 493.465

Total value of production (A) 2.387.871.881 2.086.963.255

B) COST OF SALES

      6) Raw and ancillary materials, consumables and goods 2.327.560.361 2.029.431.836

INCOME STATEMENT Dec, 31, 2018 Dec, 31, 2017

INCOME STATEMENT Dec, 31, 2018 Dec, 31, 2017

      7) Services 21.518.811 20.768.395

      8) Leases and rentals 1.226.420 1.059.357

      9) Personnel:

            a) Wages and salaries 5.362.271 5.282.035

            b) Social security costs 1.667.173 1.605.036

            c) Post-employment benefits 322.955 316.856

            e) Other costs 27.782 1.428

      Total cost of personnel (9) 7.380.181 7.205.355

      10) Amortization, depreciation and impairment losses:

            a) Amortization of intangible assets 153.990 48.768

            b) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 3.100.737 3.306.225

            d) Impairment losses on current receivables and cash and bank balances 3.980.000 3.080.000

      Total depreciation, amortization and impairment losses (10) 6,434,993 9,786,173

      11) Change in inventories of raw and ancillary materials, consumables and goods (8.555.872) (6.593.963)

      12) Risk allowances 1.501.993 0

      14) Sundry operating expenses 1.042.860 1.090.519

Total cost of sales (B) 2.358.909.481 2.059.396.492

Difference between value of production and cost of sales (A-B) 28.962.400 27.566.763

C) FINANCIAL INCOME AND COSTS:

      16) Other financial income:

            d) Income from other sources

                  Other 1.301.065 445.719

            Total income from other sources 1.301.065 445.719

      Total other financial income (16) 1.301.065 445.719

      17) Interest expense and other finance costs

            Other 382.831 352.947

      Total interest expense and other finance costs (17) 382.831 352.947

      17-bis) Gains /(losses) on currency exchange 487.537 (166.436)

Total financial income and costs (C) (15+16-17+-17-bis) 1.405.771 (73.664)

D) ADJUSTMENTS TO VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS:

Total adjustments to value of financial assets (18-19) 0 0

PRE-TAX PROFIT (A-B+-C+-D) 30.368.171 27.493.099

20) Income tax

      Current taxes 9.023.325 5.395.043

      Taxes relating to prior periods 54 0

      Deferred tax expense and income (874.799) 2.227.465

Total income taxes 8.148.580 7.622.508

21) PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 22.219.591 19.870.591
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A. CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(INDIRECT METHOD)

Profit/(loss) for the year 22.219.591 19.870.591

Income taxes 8.148.580 7.622.508

Interest expense/(income) (918.234) (92.772)

Capital gains / losses on the sale of assets (14.312) 0

1. Profit/(loss) for the year before income taxes, interest,
dividends and gains/losses on disposals

29.435.625 27.400.327

Adjustments for non-monetary items not recognized
in working capital

Allocations to provisions 1.520.073 23.241

Depreciation and amortization 3.254.727 3.354.993

Other adjustments to non-monetary items 3.997.508 3.080.000

Total adjustments for non-monetary items not recognized
in working capital

8.772.308 6.458.234

2. Cash flow before changes in working capital 38.207.933 33.858.561

Changes in working capital

Decrease/(increase) in inventories (8.773.822) (6.683.364)

Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables 461.501 (8.269.262)

Increase/(decrease) in trade payables (1.567.121) 9.039.060

Decrease/(increase) in accrued income and prepaid expenses 23.781 (45.091)

Increase/(decrease) in accrued expenses and deferred income (5.775) (615)

Other decreases/(other increases) in working capital (5.536.298) (9.115.486)

Total changes in working capital (15.397.734) (15.074.758)

3. Cash flow after changes in working capital 22.810.199 18.783.803

Other adjustments

Interest received/(paid) 918.234 92.772

(Income taxes paid) (5.348.448) (5.791.753)

(Use of provisions) (284.032) (173.424)

Total other adjustments (4.714.246) (5.872.405)

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities (A) 18.095.953 12.911.398

B. CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Property, plant and equipment

(Investments) (3.458.390) (5.560.826)

Divestments 50.475 56.028

Intangible assets

(Investments) (211.555) (232.558)

Divestments 0 74.124

Non-current financial assets

(Investments) (600) 0

Divestments 0 5.220

Current financial assets (60,000) 0

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities (B) (3,680,070) (5,658,012)

Current year Previous year Current year Previous year

C. CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

External funding

Increase/(decrease) in short-term bank borrowings (1.664.989) (6.166.134)

(Repayments of loans) (1.622.222) (1.622.223)

Own funds

(Dividends and advances on dividends paid) (1,121,600) 0

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities (C) (3,287,210) (7,788,357)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A ± B ± C) 11,128,673 (534,971)

Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 354,858 (186,775)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Bank and postal deposits 1,444,666 2,165,589

Cash and cash equivalents on hand 7,922 8,745

Total cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1,452,588 2,174,334

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Bank and postal deposits 12,925,496 1,444,666

Cash and cash equivalents on hand 10,623 7,922

Total cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 12,936,119 1,452,588



2
0

1
8

 A
n

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

rt

41

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR 
THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

INTRODUCTION 

The financial statements for the year 

ended December 31, 2018, of whi-

ch these notes are an integral part 

pursuant to Italian Civil Code Arti-

cle 2423, paragraph 1, correspond 

with the duly kept books of account 

and have been prepared in accor-

dance with Civil Code Articles 2423, 

2423 ter, 2424, 2424 bis, 2425, 2425 

bis, and 2425 ter using preparation 

standards compliant with Civil Code 

Article 2423 bis and the accounting 

policies specified in Civil Code Article 

2426.

The accounting policies pursuant 

to Civil Code Article 2426 are the 

same as those used for the priorpe-

riod financial statements and there 

have been no special circumstances 

requiring a departure from the usual 

policies as governed by Civil Code Ar-

ticles 2423 bis, paragraph 2 and 2423, 

paragraph 5.

BASIS OF PREPARATION 

In keeping with Civil Code Article 

2423 bis, in preparing the financial 

statements:

SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies described 

below are compliant with Civil Code 

Article 2426.

Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are recognized, up 

to their recoverable amount, at pur-

chase or production cost including 

all directly attributable ancillary 

expenses, They are amortized on a 

straight-line basis over their residual 

useful life.

Intangible assets whose payment 

terms are deferred with respect to 

standard market conditions are re-

cognized on an amortized cost basis, 

at the amount payable as determined 

in accordance with Italian accounting 

standard 19 (“Payables”).

Patent and intellectual property ri-

ghts are amortized over their estima-

ted useful life, which does not exceed 

the term established in the related 

license agreements.

individual items were valued on 

a prudent, going concern basis;

all profits included were effecti-

vely realized during the year;

income and costs were deter-

mined on an accrual basis, re-

gardless of when they actually 

materialized;

all risks and losses pertaining to 

the period were included, even 

if they became known after the

end of the year;

dissimilar elements making up 

the various financial statement 

items were measured separa-

tely;

the accounting policies were 

the same as those used the pre-

vious period.

the costs have been effectively 

incurred and are objectively 

measurable, and do not exceed 

the recoverable amount of the 

asset in question;

the capitalized expenses must 

not exceed the finance costs, 

net of the temporary invest-

ment of borrowed funds, refer-

ring to the asset’s construction 

and incurred during the year;

the finance costs on borrowed 

funds are generally capitalized 

up to the limit of the portion 

attributable to the assets under 

construction;

the capitalized expenses refer 

exclusively to assets requiring a 

significant construction period.

Intangible assets under development 

are not amortized.

Intangible assets whose value at the 

end of the year is consistently lower 

than the remaining amount to be 

amortized are carried at that lower 

value; the writedown is reversed in 

future years if the reasons for it cease 

to exist.

Items included under intangible as-

sets have been recognized and mea-

sured with consent from the Board of 

Statutory Auditors, where required 

by the Italian Civil Code.

Property, 

plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are 

recognized upon transfer of the risks 

and rewards of ownership, up to their 

recoverable amount, at purchase or 

production cost net of accumulated 

depreciation; their value includes all 

directly attributable ancillary costs, 

indirect costs for internal production, 

and internal production financing co-

sts incurred from the beginning of the 

manufacturing process until the asset 

is ready for use.

Assets whose payment terms are de-

ferred with respect to standard mar-

ket conditions are recognized on an 

amortized cost basis, at the amount 

payable as determined in accordance 

with Italian accounting standard 19 

(“Payables”).

Costs incurred for the expansion, 

modernization and improvement of 

structural elements or to make as-

sets more suitable for their purpose, 

as well as extraordinary maintenance 

pursuant to Italian accounting stan-

dard 16 (paragraphs 49 to 53), are 

capitalized only if they significantly 

and measurably increase production 

capacity or useful life.

For these assets, depreciation is char-

ged individually on the new value, 

considering the residual useful life.

For property, plant and equipment 

consisting of the combination of two 

or more coordinated assets, in accor-

dance with Italian accounting stan-

dard 16 (paragraphs 45 and 46), the 

values of the individual assets are de-

termined in order to distinguish the 

useful life of each one.

Property, plant and equipment ac-

quired free of charge, as governed by 

Italian accounting standard 16 (para-

graphs 47 and 48), are recognized at 

market value with a contra-entry in 

income statement item “A,5 - other 

income”.

Finance costs are capitalized in accor-

dance with Italian accounting stan-

dard 16 (paragraphs 41 to 44), consi-

dering that:

The cost of assets whose use is limited 

in time is depreciated on a straight-li-

ne basis at rates deemed to reflect 

their estimated useful lives.

All assets are depreciated, including 

those temporarily out of use, with 

the exception of those whose utility 

is never exhausted, consisting of land, 

non-operating buildings and works of 

art.
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LAND AND BUILDINGS

INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL EQUIPMENT

OTHER ASSETS

Industrial buildings 5%

Lightweight structures 10%

PLANT AND MACHINERY

General plant 10%

Special-purpose plant and machinery 35%

Furnaces and other plant 30%

Sundry minor equipment 25%

Furniture and furnishings 12%

Electronic office machines 40%

Motor vehicles and other transport vehicles 25%-20%

Electronic processors 40%

Assets worth less than € 516,46 100%

Other assets 20%

On the basis of Italian accounting standard 16 (paragraph 

60), if the value of any buildings includes the land on which 

they are built, the value of the land is separated from it.

Depreciation begins when the assets are ready and available 

for use.

Rates reflect depreciation schedules confirmed by business 

entities and are reduced by 50% for purchases made during 

the year, which are subject to paragraph 61 of Italian accoun-

ting standard 16.

The depreciation schedules, in accordance with Italian ac-

counting standard 16 (paragraph 70), are revised for any 

changes in residual useful life.

Obsolete assets and those that will no longer be used in the 

production cycle, pursuant to Italian accounting standard 

16 (paragraph 80), are not depreciated and are recognized 

at the lower of net carrying value and recoverable amount.

The following depreciation rates were adopted: 

Non-current financial assets 

Equity investments

Equity investments are classified as non-current assets or as 

current assets, depending on their purpose.

Long-term equity investments

Equity investments in listed and unlisted companies are va-

lued individually at the specific cost incurred.

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 

are measured at the corresponding interest in equity resul-

ting from the most recently approved financial statements of 

such companies, less dividends and after the adjustments re-

quired by the standards governing the preparation of conso-

lidated financial statements, and those necessary to comply 

with the principles set forth in Civil Code Articles 2423 and

2423-bis.

Long-term investments in subsidiaries and associates are va-

lued at cost, reduced for any impairment losses.In the period 

in which the impairment loss is no longer applicable, the ori-

ginal value prior to the write-down is restored.

Although Chimet owns controlling interests, it does not draw 

up consolidated financial statements pursuant to Italian Le-

gislative Decree n, 127/1991, Article 27, because Group 

consolidated financial statements are prepared by its parent 

company, Zeor Finanziaria S,p,A,, which shall file them at the 

Rome Companies Register, Unoaerre Industries S,p,A, and its 

foreign subsidiaries have been included in the consolidation 

perimeter since December 27, 2012 and are considered as-

sociates.

In accordance with Italian Civil Code Article 2497-bis, it is 

reported that Chimet is subject to management and coordi-

nation by Zeor Finanziaria SpA based in Rome, with which it 

did not carry out any trade or financial transactions.

Short-term equity investments

The Company does not own short-term equity investments 

or other securities.

Inventories

Inventories are recognized upon transfer of the risks and 

rewards of ownership, at the lower of cost (including direct-

ly attributable charges and indirect costs for internal pro-

duction) and estimated realizable value, as determined from 

market prices.

In accordance with Italian accounting standard 13, para-

graphs 51 to 53, the realizable value is the average Decem-

ber price of precious metals listed on stock markets, whereas 

the cost formula adopted for raw materials is LIFO (last in, 

first out).

Finished products are entered at the production cost direct-

ly attributable according to their percentage of completion.

Derivative instruments

The Company does not use derivatives for either speculative 

or hedging purposes.

Receivables

Receivables are recognized as non-current or current assets 

depending on their destination/origin with respect to core 

operations, and are carried at estimated realizable value.

They are split into amounts due within and after one year, ba-

sed on contractual or legal maturities and taking account of 

events or circumstances that may alter the original maturity, 

the debtor’s realistic ability to meet its obligation on time, 

and the horizon within which the receivable is reasonably 

expected to be settled.

In accordance with Italian Civil Code Article 2426, paragraph 

1, n, 8, receivables are recognized using the amortized cost 

method, with the exception of those for which the impact of 

using the amortized cost method, pursuant to Civil Code Ar-

ticle 2423, paragraph 4, is immaterial (maturity in less than 

12 months).

In accordance with the materiality principle stated above, 

receivables are not discounted to present value if the inte-

rest rate that can be determined from contractual terms and 

conditions is not significantly different from the market rate.

If there is a significant difference between the effective inte-

rest rate and the market rate, the “time factor” is considered 

pursuant to Civil Code Article 2426, paragraph 1, n, 8, by di-

scounting the receivables due after 12 months.

Receivables not valued using the amortized cost method are 

recognized at their estimated realizable value, Receivables, 

whether or not recognized at amortized cost, are entered 

net of the provision for doubtful debts which covers specific 

amounts unlikely to be recovered as well as the general risk 

of default, based on past experience, the seniority of past-

due receivables, and the general economy, industry condi-

tions and country risk, as well as events occurring after year 

end that affect amounts as of the reporting date.

For secured receivables, the impact of enforcing the guaran-

tees is taken into account, while for insured receivables only 

the uninsured portion is considered.

Moreover, an amount was allocated to a specific risk provi-

sion, based on past experience and all other useful informa-

tion, for estimated returns of goods or products by custo-

mers and for discounts and rebates that will presumably be 

granted at the time of collection.

Tax credits and deferred tax assets

“Tax credits” cover definite amounts that will be either refun-

ded or offset against taxes due.

“Deferred tax assets” are determined on the basis of de-

ductible temporary differences or tax losses carried forward, 

using the tax rates expected to be in force when those diffe-

rences reverse.

Deferred tax assets relating to tax losses are recognized 

when reasonable certainty of their future recovery exists, 

demonstrated by tax planning for a reasonable period of 

time that anticipates sufficient taxable income to use the 

loss carry-forwards and/or the presence of sufficient taxable 

temporary differences to absorb the loss carry-forwards.
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Cash and bank balances

Cash and bank balances are recognized at their nominal  

value.

Accruals and deferrals

Accrued income, prepaid expenses, accrued expenses and 

deferred income are recognized on an accrual basis and in-

clude income/costs pertaining to the year but receivable or 

payable in future periods, and income/costs received or in-

curred during the year but pertaining to future periods.

Only the portion common to two or more years, which varies 

over time, is recognized.

At the end of the year it is ensured that the conditions under-

lying the initial recognition have been met, and any neces-

sary adjustments in value are made, considering the possibi-

lity of recovery (if applicable) in addition to the time factor.

Accrued income, treated as current receivables, is recogni-

zed at its estimated realizable value, If such value is below 

the carrying amount, the latter is written down in the income 

statement.

Accrued expenses, treated as payables, are shown at nomi-

nal value.

Prepaid expenses correspond to the future economic bene-

fit; the value is adjusted if the benefit turns out to be lower 

than the amount prepaid.

Provisions for risks and charges

The risk provisions represent liabilities for situations exi-

sting as of the reporting date that are likely but not certain 

to be incurred.

Provisions for charges represent certain liabilities, pertai-

ning to the year, which will be incurred in the subsequent 

period.

Estimates are carried out and/or adjusted as of the repor-

ting date, on the basis of past experience and all available  

information.

In accordance with Italian accounting standard 31 (para-

graph 19) and the obligation to classify costs by nature, allo-

cations to the provisions for risks and charges are included 

with the type of transaction (core, accessory or financial) to 

which they refer.

Provision for agency 

termination benefits and similar obligations

This covers the liabilities for supplementary pension and 

one-off benefits due to employees and consultants, by law 

or by contract, when their employment comes to an end.

The allocation for the year is determined on the basis of esti-

mates and other factors so that the provision gradually adju-

sts to the total amount accrued at the end of the year.

Provisions for taxes, including deferred tax

These cover likely taxes for non-definitive assessments and 

pending disputes, as well as deferred taxes calculated on 

the basis of taxable temporary differences, using the rate 

expected to be in force when those differences reverse.

In accordance with Italian accounting standard 25, para-

graphs 53 to 85, the provision for deferred tax includes de-

ferred tax deriving from extraordinary transactions, reva-

luations, and untaxed reserves not recognized in the income 

statement or equity.

Deferred tax is not calculated for untaxed reserves that 

would be taxable if distributed to shareholders because, as 

per Italian accounting standard 25, paragraph 64, there are 

reasonable grounds to expect that they will not be used in 

such a way that would cause them to be taxable.

Provision for post-employment benefits

The provision for post-employment benefits is maintained as 

required by law and covers the full amount accrued to indi-

vidual employees as of the reporting date, less any advances 

paid.

Payables

In accordance with Italian Civil Code Article 2426, para-

graph 1, n, 8, payables are recognized using the amortized 

cost method, with the exception of those for which the im-

pact of using the amortized cost method, pursuant to Civil 

Code Article 2423, paragraph 4, is immaterial (maturity in 

less than 12 months).

Payables not valued using the amortized cost method are re-

cognized at their nominal value.

They are split into amounts due within and beyond one 

year, based on contractual or legal maturities and taking ac-

count of events or circumstances that may alter the original  

maturity.

Payables arising from the purchase of goods are recognized 

upon transfer of the risks, costs and rewards; payables for 

services are recognized when the service is rendered; and 

financial and other payables are recognized when the obliga-

tion toward the counterparty arises.

Taxes payable are liabilities of a defined amount that are 

certain to arise, as well as tax taken as a withholding agent 

and not yet paid over to the authorities, Where offsetting is 

allowed, they are shown net of advance payments, withhol-

dings and tax credits.

Amounts in foreign currencies

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign cur-

rencies are translated at the spot exchange rate in force on 

the last day of the period, with exchange gains and losses ta-

ken to the income statement.

Any net gain from the adjustment to end-of-period exchan-

ge rates, not absorbed by losses, is entered in a reserve that 

cannot be distributed until the gain is realized.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are 

translated at the exchange rate in force on the transaction 

date, Pursuant to Italian accounting standard 26 (paragraph 

31), when the financial statements are drawn up this amount 

is compared, in accordance with the accounting policies, with 

the recoverable amount (for non-current assets) or with the 

current value as determined by market prices (for current 

assets).

Income and expenses

These are recognized on an accrual basis and according to 

the principle of prudence.

All trade and financial transactions with group companies 

and related parties are conducted on an arm’s length basis.
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BALANCE SHEET 
INFORMATION ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Intangible assets

Intangible assets amount to € 537,872 (€ 480,307 at the end of the prior year).

The composition of the individual items and changes therein are as follows:

Start-up
and

expansion
costs

Development
costs

Patent and
intellectual

property
rights

Concessions,
licenses,

trademarks 
and

similar rights

Intangible
assets under

formation and
advances

Other
intangible

assets

Total
intangible

assets

Value at 
beginning
of the year

Cost 2.117 244.633 743.661 393.038 349.111 924.413 2.656.973

Accumulated
amortization 2.117 244.633 731.811 280.706 0 917.399 2.176.666

Carrying value 0 0 11.850 112.332 349.111 7.014 480.307

Annual 
changes

Annual 
amortization 90.366 0 3.950 57.336 0 2.338 153.990

Other changes 451.830 0 0 108.836 (349.111) 0 211.555

Total changes 361.464 0 (3.950) 51.500 (349.111) (2.338) 57.565

Value at end
of the year

Cost 453.947 244.633 743.661 501.874 0 924.413 2.868.528

Accumulated
amortization 92.483 244.633 735.761 338.042 0 919.737 2.330.656

Carrying 
value 361.464 0 7.900 163.832 0 4.676 537.872

Land and
buildings

Plant and
machinery

Industrial and
commercial
equipment

Other
tangible

assets

Tangible assets
under construction

and advances

Total property,
plant and

equipment

Value at 
beginning
of the year

Cost 20.857.255 81.171.406 1.061.053 2.905.880 2.801.276 108.796.870

Accumulated
depreciation 15.048.398 78.538.054 898.186 2.335.775 0 96.820.413

Carrying value 5.808.857 2.633.352 162.867 570.105 2.801.276 11.976.457

Annual 
changes

Annual 
depreciation 457.468 2.305.271 83.608 254.390 0 3.100.737

Other changes 38.589 4.570.626 154.670 351.665 (1.693.323) 3.422.227

Total changes (418.879) 2.265.355 71.062 97.275 (1.693.323) 321.490

Value at end
of the year

Cost 20.895.844 85.742.032 1.215.723 3.041.431 1.107.953 112.002.983

Accumulated
depreciation 15.505.866 80.843.325 981.794 2.374.051 0 99.705.036

Carrying value 5.389.978 4.898.707 233.929 667.380 1.107.953 12.297.947

In 2017 the plan to expand the Chimet plant was set into 

motion with capital expenditure recognized as intangible 

assets since it refers to a plan that, if authorized, would be 

carried out over more than one year, in accordance with the 

matching principle for income and expenses.

Moreover, the replacement of the accounting software was 

initiated, The deferred cost is included in “intangible assets 

under formation and advances” because it was not possible 

to use the software immediately due to its development and 

adaptation to internal demands.

The approval process concluded with the Regional Council 

“Tangible assets under construction” refers to plant and 

machinery designed and built entirely in-house; 

the item includes the related costs that remain deferred 

if those assets have not begun to be used by the end of the 

year. In keeping with its characteristic pursuit of renovation, 

during the Company began the work necessary to replace 

of Tuscany’s authorization, and the related expenses were 

capitalized as startup and expansion costs. 

Moreover, the process of replacing accounting software was 

completed, and the related cost was recognized as “licenses”.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment amount to € 12,297,947 (€ 

11,976,457 at the end of the prior year).

The composition of the individual items and changes therein 

are as follows:

the flotation plant.

In addition, Sector K was revamped, a warehouse for the 

automatic stocking of materials assigned for processing was 

built, bag filters for Sector C were replaced, and new office 

premises were built.
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Non-current financial assets

The equity investments amounted to € 303,551, the same as in the previous year, since no changes occurred.

The following table sets forth the composition of the equity investments held directly and indirectly.

Non-current receivables

Non-current receivables amount to € 4,383 (€ 3,783 at the end of the prior year).

The composition of the individual items and changes therein are as follows:

Investments in
associates

Investments in 
other undertakings

Total equity
investments

Value at 
beginning 
of the year

Cost 59.314 244.237 303.551

Carrying value 59.314 244.237 303.551

Annual 
changes

Value at 
end of the year

Cost 59.314 244.237 303.551

Carrying value 59.314 244.237 303.551

In addition to its 33% stake in associate Kimet Hellas, Chimet has investments in other undertakings consisting of the stake in 

Genergy Spa valued at the historical cost of € 223 thousand, in Polo Tecnologico La Magona (€ 7,750) and in Centro Affari e Convegni 

Arezzo Srl (€ 10,329).

Opening nominal
value

Opening net
value

Other increases
/ (decreases)

Closing nominal
value

Closing net
value

Other 
receivables 
due after
next year

3.783 3.783 600 4.383 4.383

Total 9,003 9,003 -5,220 3,783 3,783

The changes are summarized hereunder:

Value at
beginning of the year

Annual
changes

Value at end of
the year

Due after the
year

Other non-current
receivables 3.783 600 4.383 4.383

Total non-current
receivables 3.783 600 4.383 4.383

Investments in associates

The investments in associates are disclosed below, in accordance with Italian Civil Code Article 2427, paragraph 1, n, 5:

Non-current receivables by geographical area

The non-current receivables are disclosed below by geographical area, in accordance with Italian Civil Code Article 2427, 

paragraph 1, n, 6:

The table above shows that the historical cost method adopted to measure the equity investment produces a prudent value of the 

investment, considering the interest in equity held.

Name
City, 

if in Italy,
or Country

Tax ID n,
(for Italian

companies)

Share capital
in euros

Profit/(loss)
from last 

fiscal
year in euros

Equity in
euros

Interest
owned in

euros

Interest
owned

in %

Carrying 
value or

correspon-
ding

receivable

Kimet Hellas GREECE 418.380 (34.692) 304.642 101.537 33,33 59.314

Total 59.314

Geographical 
area

Other non-current
receivables

Total non-current
receivables

Italy 4.383 4.383

Total 4.383 4.383
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Value at beginning of
the year

Annual change
Value at end of 

the year

Raw and ancillary 
materials and 
consumables

104.212.972 8.555.872 112.768.844

Finished products 438.688 217.950 656.638

Total inventories 104.651.660 8.773.822 113.425.482

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories

Goods are recognized in inventories at the time of the 

transfer of the risks and rewards of ownership, so they 

include the goods at the Company’s warehouse, excluding 

those received from third parties for which ownership rights 

have not been acquired (for inspection purposes, processing, 

consignment), owned goods held for third parties (for 

inspection purposes, processing, consignment), and goods in

Raw materials in stock, consisting of precious metals, are 

valued using the LIFO method. This method is particularly 

prudent because the precious metals owned are accounted 

for at historical prices that are lower, sometimes considerably 

so, than current market prices, For 2018, the prudent 

transit for which the risks and rewards of ownership have 

already been transferred.

The inventories included in current assets amount to € 

113,425,482 (€ 104,651,660 at the end of the prior year).

The composition of the individual items and changes therein 

are as follows:

valuation of precious metals generated a latent reserve of 

€ 117 million, before taxes, at the average December prices, 

Platinum inventories were valued at the average December 

price, which resulted in a € 4,2 million writedown from the 

LIFO price used until 2017.

Receivables

Current receivables included amount to € 112,047,257 (€ 111,730,078 at the end of the prior year),

Their composition is set forth below:

Receivables by maturity

The receivables are disclosed below by maturity, in accordance with Civil Code Article 2427, paragraph 1, n, 6:

Due within
next year

Due after
next year

Total nominal value
(Provision for 

doubtful
debts/impairment)

Net value

Trade receivables 68.718.774 0 68.718.774 6.526.946 62.191.828

Due from other
subsidiaries of the 
parent

27.819.328 0 27.819.328 0 27.819.328

Tax credits 1.053.448 0 1.053.448 1.053.448

Deferred tax assets 2.268.760 2.268.760

Other receivables 16.997.353 1.716.540 18.713.893 0 18.713.893

Total 114.588.903 1.716.540 118.574.203 6.526.946 112.047.257

Value at 
beginning

of the year
Annual change

Value at end
of the year

Due within
the year

Due after
the year

Due after
5 years

Current trade 
receivables 66,633,329 (4,441,501) 62,191,828 62,191,828 0 0

Current receivables 
due from other 
subsidiaries of
the parent

26,249,056 1,570,272 27,819,328 27,819,328 0 0

Current tax credits 1,628,841 (575,393) 1,053,448 1,053,448 0 0

Current tax assets 1,393,961 874,799 2,268,760

Other current 
receivables 15,824,891 2,889,002 18,713,893 16,997,353 1,716,540 0

Total current 
receivables 111,730,078 317,179 112,047,257 108,061,957 1,716,540 0
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Cash and bank balances

The cash and bank balances included in current assets amount to € 12,936,119 (€ 1,452,588 at the end of the prior year).

The composition of the individual items and changes therein are as follows:

ACCRUED INCOME AND PREPAID EXPENSES

The accrued income and prepaid expenses amount to € 208,175 (€ 231,956 at the end of the prior year),

The composition of the individual items and changes therein are as follows:

Value at beginning of the year Annual change Value at end of the year

Bank and postal 
deposits 1.444.666 11.480.830 12.925.496

Cash and cash 
equivalents on hand 7.922 2.701 10.623

Total cash and cash 
equivalents 1.452.588 11.483.531 12.936.119

Value at beginning of the year Annual change Value at end of the year

Prepaid expenses 231.956 (23.781) 208.175

Total accrued income 
and prepaid expenses 231.956 (23.781) 208.175

Current receivables by geographical area

The current receivables are disclosed below by geographical area, in accordance with Civil Code Article 2427, paragraph 1, n, 6:

Geographical area
Current

trade
receivables

Current
receivables due

from other
subsidiaries of

the parent

Current tax
credits

Current tax
assets

Other
current

receivables

Total current
receivables

Italy 47.710.988 27.819.328 1.053.448 2.268.760 18.713.893 97.566.417

Other European 
Union countries 4.649.242 0 0 0 0 4,649,242

Countries outside the 
European Union 9.831.598 0 0 0 0 9.831.598

Totale 62.191.828 27.819.328 1.053.448 2.268.760 18.713.893 112.047.257

Accrued income and prepaid expenses composition

Description Amount

Prepaid expenses 
on bank guarantees 56.123

Other prepaid 
expenses 152.052

Total 208.175

BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

EQUITY

Equity at the end of the year amounted to € 185,833,464 (€ 163,613,872 at the end of the prior year), The tables hereunder 

present the changes during the year in the items of equity and details of “other reserves”:

The following disclosures of revaluations of fixed assets complete the information on the balance sheet assets.

Value at 
beginning

of the year

Other
allocations

Reclassifications
Profit / (loss)
for the year

Value at end
of the year

Share capital 7.000.000 0 0 0 7.000.000

Share premium 
reserve 708.321 0 0 0 708.321

Revaluation 
reserve 3.617.438 0 0 0 3.617.438

Legal reserve 1.400.000 0 0 0 1.400.000

Other reserves

Extraordinary 
Reserve 130.910.642 0 19.977.473 0 150.888.115

Reserve for 
unrealized foreign
exchange gains

106.881 0 -160,881 0 0

Other sundry 
reserves (1) 0 0 0 -1

Total other 
reserves 131.017.522 0 19,870,592 0 150.888.114

Profit/(loss) for 
the year 19.870.591 (19.870.591) 0 22.219.591 22.219.591

Total equity 163.613.872 (19.870.591) 19,870,592 22.219.591 185.833.464
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For the sake of better comprehension of the changes in equity, the changes in equity of the previous year are presented below:

Reclassifications
Profit / (loss)
for the year

Value at end
of the year

Share capital 7.000.000 7,000,000

Share premium reserve 708,321 708,321

Revaluation reserve 3.617.438 3,617,438

Legal reserve 1.400.000 1,400,000

Other reserves

Reserve for unrealized 
foreign exchange gains 130,910,642 130,910,642

Other sundry reserves 106.881 106,881

Total other reserves 131,017,522 131,017,522

Profit/(loss) for the year 19,870,591 19,870,591

Total equity 143,743,282 19,870,591 163,613,872

Amount Possibile use Available portion

Share capital 7.000.000 0

Share premium reserve 708.321 A-B 708,321

Revaluation reserve 3.617.438 A-B-C 3.617.438

Legal reserve 1.400.000 B 0

Other reserves

Extraordinary Reserve 150.888.115 A-B-C 150.888.115

Reserve for unrealized 
foreign exchange gains 0 A-B 0

Other sundry reserves (1) 0

Total other reserves 150.888.114 150.888.114

Total 163.613.873 163.613.873

Key:
A: for capital increase
B: for loss coverage
C: for distribution to 
shareholders
D: for other statutory 
obligations
E: other

Availability and use of items of equity

The information required by Civil Code Article 2427, paragraph 1, n, 7-bis regarding the specification of the items of equity with 

respect to their source, use and distribution possibility, and their use in previous periods, is presented hereunder:

Description Amount Possible use

Rounding off reserve -1 E

Total -1

The following information completes the equity disclosures.

Revaluation reserve

The composition of the revaluation reserve is as follows:

For information on the changes in the provision for deferred tax, see the section on “income taxes”.

Value at beginning
of the year

Use for loss
coverage

Other 
changes

Value at end
of the year

Law 72/1983 761.257 0 0 761.257

Law 413/1991 596.348 0 0 596.348

Law 2/2009 2,259,833 0 0 2,259,833

Other revaluations

Total revaluation reserves 3,617,438 0 0 3,617,438

Provision for agency
termination benefits

and similar obliga-
tions

Provision for taxes,
including deferred

tax

Negative
derivatives

Other
provisions

Total provisions
for risks and

charges

Value at 
beginning 
of the year

62.888 404.604 0 2.750.000 3.217.492

Annual changes

Other changes 1.992 0 0 1.250.000 1.251.992

Total changes 1.992 0 0 1.250.000 1.251.992

Value at end 
of the year 64.880 404.604 0 4.000.000 4.469.484

PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES

The provisions for risks and charges amount to € 4,469,484 (€ 3,217,492 at the end of the prior year).

The composition of the individual items and changes therein are as follows:
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TFR PROVISION FOR POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

The provision for post-employment benefits is stated as a liability of € 970,096 (€ 986,047 at the end of the prior year).

The composition of the individual items and changes therein are as follows:

PAYABLES

The payables are stated as a liability of € 60,533,643 (€ 62,993,095 at the end of the prior year).

The composition of the individual items is as follows:

Provision for post-employment benefits

Value at beginning of the year 986.047

Annual changes

Allocation for the year 18.080

Use in the year 34.031

Total changes (15.951)

Value at end of the year 970.096

Value at beginning of the year Annual changes Value at end of the year

Due to banks 32.997.362 (1.664.989) 31.332.373

Due to other financiers 3.244.444 (1.622.222) 1.622.222

Trade payables 20.234.540 (1.567.121) 18.667.419

Due to parent companies 2.878.400 0 2.878.400

Due to other 
subsidiaries of the parent 7.366 (4.626) 2.740

Current tax liabilities 519.056 3.359.003 3.878.059

Social security 272.231 7.581 279.812

Other payables 2.839.696 (967.078) 1.872.618

Total 62.993.095 (2.459.452) 60.533.643

Payables by maturity

The payables are disclosed below by maturity, in accordance with Italian Civil Code Article 2427, paragraph 1, n, 6:

Payables by geographical area

The payables are disclosed below by geographical area, in accordance with Civil Code Article 2427, paragraph 1, n, 6:

Value at beginning
of the year

Annual change
Value at end
of the year

Due within
the year

Due to banks 32.997.362 (1.664.989) 31.332.373 31.332.373

Due to other 
financiers 3.244.444 (1.622.222) 1.622.222 1.622.222

Trade payables 20.234.540 (1.567.121) 18.667.419 18.667.419

Due to parent 
companies 2.878.400 0 2.878.400 2.878.400

Due to other 
subsidiaries 
of the parent

7.366 (4.626) 2.740 2.740

Current tax 
liabilities 519.056 3.359.003 3.878.059 3.878.059

Social security 272.231 7.581 279.812 279.812

Other payables 2.839.696 (967.078) 1.872.618 1.872.618

Total 62.993.095 (2.459.452) 60.533.643 60.533.643

Geographical 
area

Due to
banks

Due to
other

financiers

Trade
payables

Due to
parent

companies

Due to other
subsidiaries 

of the parent

Current
tax

liabilities

Social
security

Other
payables

Payables

Italy 31.332.373 1.622.222 12.544.630 2.878.400 2.740 3.878.059 279.812 1.872.618 54.410.854

Other 
European
Union 
countries

0 0 3.636.298 0 0 0 0 0 3.636.298

Countries
outside the
European 
Union

0 0 2.486.491 0 0 0 0 0 2.486.491

Total 31.332.373 1.622.222 18.667.419 2.878.400 2.740 3.878.059 279.812 1.872.618 60.533.643
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ACCRUED EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME

The accrued expenses and deferred income are stated as liabilities of € 14,099 (€ 19,874 at the end of the prior year).

The composition of the individual items and changes therein are as follows:

Composition of accrued expenses

Value at beginning of the year Annual change Value at end of the year

Accrued expenses 19.874 (5.775) 14.099

Total accrued expenses
and deferred income 19.874 (5.775) 14.099

Description Amount

Accrued interest expense 14.099

Total 14.099

INCOME STATEMENT INFORMATION
VALUE OF PRODUCTION

Revenue from sales and services by business segment

Revenue is set forth below by business segment, in accordance with Italian Civil Code Article 2427, paragraph 1, n, 10:

Business segment Current year

Revenues from precious metal sales 2.233.351.891

Revenues from finished product sales 120.601.881

Revenues from services rendered 26.572.036

Other revenues 194.933

Total 2.380.720.741

Revenue from sales and services by geographical area

Revenue is set forth below by geographical area, in accordance with Civil Code Article 2427, paragraph 1, n, 10:

Other income

The other income is stated in the value of production as 4,135,541 (€ 493,465 for the prior year).

The composition of the individual items is as follows:

Geographical area Current year

Italy 1.643.373.959

Other European Union countries 261.084.020

Countries outside the European Union 476.262.762

Total 2.380.720.741

Previous year Change Current year

Grants for operating expenses 19.382 (19.382) 0

Other

Real estate income 3.510 4.823 8.333

Expense refunds 382.431 (96.518) 285.913

Insurance repayments 0 80.773 80.773

Non-financial capital gains 25.554 (11.425) 14.129

Contingent assets 
and non-existent assets 0 3.483.324 3.483.324

Other income 62.588 200.481 263.069

Total others 474.083 3.661.458 4.135.541

Total other revenues and income 493.465 3.642.076 4.135.541
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COST OF SALES

Services

The cost of services is stated as a cost of sales of 21,518,811 (€ 20,768,395 for the prior year).

The composition of the individual items is as follows:

Previous year Change Current year

Freight 758.910 21.283 780.193

Services regarding assets under 
development 2.646.287 121.056 2.767.343

Outsourced processing 699.204 (27.890) 671.314

Electricity 3.260.819 390.566 3.651.385

Natural gas 2.051.885 356.512 2.408.397

Water 32.448 (6.587) 25.861

Maintenance and repair expenditure 2.062.475 (180.090) 1.882.385

Technical services and consulting 475.289 (11.771) 463.518

Remuneration of Directors 256.029 (2.521) 253.508

Remuneration of statutory 
auditors and independent auditors 26.208 0 26.208

Services equivalent to 
those provided by employees 696.895 148.549 845.444

Commission expense 1.090.849 (164.549) 926.300

Advertising 522.042 (142.982) 379.060

Legal and consulting expenses 242.605 (82.430) 160.175

Tax, administrative 
and business consulting services 182.685 (116.339) 66.346

Telephone expenses 56.462 (5.481) 50.981

Non-financial services from 
financial entities and banks 716.308 (94.709) 621.599

Insurance 387.128 86.150 473.278

Travel expenses 177.856 (81.180) 96.676

Disposal services 27.782 (587) 27.195

Training costs 2.963.746 178.347 3.142.093

Other 1.434.483 365.069 1.799.552

Total 20.768.395 750.416 21.518.811

Leases and rentals

The cost of leases and rentals is stated as a cost of sales of € 1,226,420 (€ 1,059,357 for the prior year).

The composition of the individual items is as follows:

“Other” consists of amounts paid for metals on loan for use.

Sundry operating expenses

The sundry operating expenses are stated as a cost of sales of 1,042,860 (€ 1,090,519 for the prior year).

The composition of the individual items is as follows:

Previous year Change Current year

Rent and lease payments 407.321 25.475 432.796

Other 652.036 141.588 793.624

Total 1.059.357 167.063 1.226.420

Previous year Change Current year

Stamp duty 14.701 (125) 14.576

ICI/IMU (property tax) 124.546 5.975 130.521

Registration tax 5.205 (2.826) 2.379

Chamber of Commerce fees 11.349 2.771 14.120

Subscriptions to newspapers, 
magazines, etc 2.522 1.294 3.816

Non-financial capital losses 10.118 (10.118) 0

Other operating expenses 922.078 (44.630) 877.448

Total 1.090.519 (47.659) 1.042.860
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FINANCIAL INCOME AND COSTS

Interest expense and other finance costs by type of debt

“Interest expense and other finance costs” is disclosed below, in accordance with Civil Code Article 2427, paragraph 1, 

number 12:

Gains / (losses) on currency exchange

The gains and losses on currency exchange deriving from their end-of-period measurement are set forth below by the amounts 

unrealized and realized:

Interest expense and other finance costs

On bank loans 72,698

Other 280,249

Total 352,947

Unrealized portion Realized portion Total

Gains on 
currency exchange 0 383.767 383.767

Losses on 
currency exchange 337.350 (441.120) (103.770)

INCOME TAX

The composition of the individual items is as follows:

Current taxes
Taxes relating

to prior periods
Deferred tax

expense
Deferred tax

income

Income (expense) 
under tax

transparency regime

IRES
(corporate income tax) 7.678.357 0 0 874.799

IRAP
(regional business tax) 1.344.968 54 0 0

Totale 9.023.325 54 0 874.799 0

Description Amount at end of prior year Annual change Amount at end of year

Unrealized exchange 
differences 0 4,200 4,200

Statutory depreciation 
exceeding fiscal depreciation 268,171 18,002 286,173

Fiscal depreciation exceeding 
statutory depreciation (372,492) (94,983) (467,475)

Allowance for doubtful debts 687,308 768,759 1,456,067

Maintenance exceeding ceiling 21,333 (11,904) 9,429

Taxed allocations to provisions 767,250 192,750 960,000

Sundry minor 22,392 (2,025) 20,367

IRES IRAP

A) Temporary differences

Total deductible 
temporary differences (404,508) 40,003

Total taxable 
temporary differences 2,698,612 (65,346)

Net temporary differences 3,103,120 (105,349)

B) Tax effects

Provision for deferred tax 
liabilities /(assets) at the 
beginning of the year

(1,393,961) 0

Deferred tax liabilities 
(assets) of the year (874,799) 0

Provision for deferred tax 
liabilities /(assets) at the end 
of the year

(2,268,760) 0

Deferred taxes include amounts initially recognized in the 

“provision for deferred tax” that directly involved equity.

The following tables, drawn up in accordance with Italian 

accounting standard 25, present the disclosures required by 

Civil Code Article 2427, paragraph 1, number 14, letters a) 

and b).

They contain information on the changes in deferred tax 

assets and liabilities, composition of the deductible temporary 

differences that generated deferred tax assets, composition 

of the taxable temporary differences that generated deferred 

tax liabilities, and use of tax losses, Temporary differences 

for which no deferred tax is recognized are also specified.
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Average number

Lower management 9

White-collar employees 56

Blue-collar employees 65

Total employees 130

Directors Statutory Auditors

Remuneration 253.508 26.208

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Employee headcount

The following information concerning personnel is disclosed, in accordance with Civil Code Article 2427,

paragraph 1, number 15:

Remuneration of Directors and Statutory Auditors

The following information concerning the Directors and Statutory Auditors is disclosed, in accordance with Civil Code Article 

2427, paragraph 1, number 16:

Independent Auditor fees

The following information concerning the independent auditors’ fees is disclosed, in accordance with Civil Code Article 2427, 

paragraph 1, number 16:

Amount

Audit of annual accounts 34.410

Total fees for independent auditors 34.410

Related Party Transaction

Below are the disclosures on related-party transactions required by Civil Code Article 2427, paragraph 1, number 22-bis.

Off-balance sheet commitments, guarantees and contingent liabilities

The table below lists the commitments, guarantees and contingent liabilities not reflected in the balance sheet, in accordance with 

Civil Code Article 2427, paragraph 1, number 9:

GUARANTEES GIVEN TOTAL

Sureties given to third parties € 83.655.457

OTHER COMMITMENTS

Third-party metals on loan for use € 15.580.648

Third-party metals held for processing € 207.434.105

Third-party metals held for processing € 7.097.464

Related Party
Type of

relationship
Trade

receivables
Trade

payables

Revenues
from sales

and services

Cost of raw and
ancillary mate-

rials,
consumables and

goods

Other
income /

(expenses)

Unoaerre
Industries Spa customer 27.819.328 0 113.188.001 0 12.650

Unoaerre
Industries Spa supplier 0 2.740 0 18.817.685 0
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Latest year Previous year

B) Non-current assets 126.092.135 112.396.456

C) Current assets 7.170.068 6.953.869

Total assets 133.262.203 119.350.325

A) Equity

Share capital 116,701,035 108,782,213

Profit/(loss) for the year 0 7,918,822

Total equity 116,701,035 116,701,035

D) Payables 2,655,157 2,649,290

Total liabilities 119,357,192 119,350,325

Subsequent events

Information concerning the nature and effect on financial 

position, financial performance and cash flows of the 

significant events occurring after the end of the year is 

reported below, in accordance with Civil Code Article 2427, 

paragraph 1, number 22-quater:

With a resolution passed on January 21, 2019, the Regional 

Council of Tuscany ruled favorably on the environmental 

compatibility of the Environmental Impact Assessment or 

“EIA” application regarding the plan for the “extension of 

production activity of the recovery of precious metals from 

special hazardous and non-hazardous waste” submitted by 

the Company.

In early 2019, the administrative process commenced 

to obtain the Integrated Environmental Authorization, 

consisting of two phases.

In the first, immediate phase, storage will increase from 335 

to 1,000 tons, This change is requested for organizational 

and operational purposes and will not involve any type of 

technical intervention because it is compatible with the 

current capacity of the authorized plants, In this phase, the 

quantity of waste accepted for treatment will increase from 

12,500 to 17,000 tons, with a maximum set by Chimet in the

EIA application of just 8,000 annual tons in the thermal 

destruction sector, The rest will be treated in the precious 

metal recovery sector, Moreover, an increase in the total 

working hours of some sectors designated for precious metal 

recovery is requested.

The second phase involves carrying out the definitive project 

over 5 years from the approval.

When at full capacity, Chimet will be able to treat up to 

24,000 tons of special hazardous and nonhazardous waste.

This second phase is expected to limit the annual waste 

designated for thermal destruction to 8,000 tons.

Information on companies or entities that 
exercise management and coordination
activities - Civil Code Article 2497-bis

The Company is subject to management and coordination by 

ZEOR FINANZIARIA S,P,A,, with which no trade or financial 

transactions were conducted.

The key data of the latest approved financial statements of 

the company that exercises management and coordination 

is set forth below, as required by Civil Code Article 2497-bis, 

paragraph 4:

Latest year Previous year

A) Value of production 213.279 186.981

B) Cost of sales 781.269 236.693

C) Financial income/(costs) 37.126 36.167

D) Adjustments to value of financial assets 14.339.202 7.935.613

Income taxes for the year 2.327 3.246

Profit/(loss) for the year 13.806.011 7.918.822

RECLASSIFIED BALANCE SHEET Current period Previous period

FIXED ASSETS 14.860.293 14.463.245

Intangible assets 537.872 480.307

Property, plant and equipment 12.297.947 11.976.457

Financial assets 2.024.474 2.006.481

WORKING CAPITAL 236.960.493 216.367.135

Inventories 113.425.482 104.651.660

Trade and other receivables 110.598.892 110.262.887

Cash and cash equivalents 12.936.119 1.452.588

INVESTED CAPITAL 251.820.786 230.830.380

EQUITY 185.833.464 163.613.872

Share capital 7.000.000 7.000.000

Reserves 178.833.464 156.613.872

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 5.439.580 5.825.761

CURRENT LIABILITIES 60.547.742 61.390.747

CAPITAL FUNDING 251.820.786 230.830.380

SOLVENCY RATIOS Current period Previous period

Current ratio 3,91 3,52

Quick ratio 2,04 1,82

Primary equity indicator 12,51 11,31

Secondary equity indicator 12,87 11,72

Equity to assets ratio 
(Financial Independence) 73,80% 70,88%

Analysis of balance sheet and income statement
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RECLASSIFIED INCOME STATEMENT Current period Previous period

Sales revenues 2.380.720.741 2.081.310.274

Internal production 7.056.238 5.627.427

Value of production 2.387.776.979 2.086.937.701

External operating expenses 2.342.645.560 2.045.604.926

Added value 45.131.419 41.332.775

Cost of personnel 7.380.181 7.205.355

Gross operating margin 37.751.238 34.127.420

Depreciation, amortization and provisions 8.736.720 6.434.993

Operating income 29.014.518 27.692.427

Non-operating income 1.655.711 153.619

Net operating income 30.670.229 27.846.046

Ordinary items (net of finance costs) 30.287.398 27.493.099

Extraordinary items 80.719 0

Pre-tax profit 30.368.117 27.493.099

Income taxes 8.148.526 7.622.508

Net profit 22.219.591 19.870.591

PROFITABILITY RATIOS Current period Previous period

ROE (Return On Equity) 11,96% 12,14%

Gross ROE 16,34% 16,80%

ROI (Return On Investment) 14,02% 13,93%

ROS (Return On Sales) 1,22% 1,33%

EBITDA margin 1,59% 1,64%

Allocation of profit

The following allocation of the € 22,219,591 profit is propo-

sed, in accordance with Civil Code Article 2427, paragraph 1, 

number 22-septies:

           € 337,350 to release the previous reserve for unrealized  

          foreign exchange gains

           € 21,882,241 to the extraordinary reserve

Information on obligation to prepare 
consolidated financial statements

Chimet Spa does not draw up consolidated financial state-

ments under Legislative Decree 127/1991, Article 27, para-

graph 3, because the Group’s financial statements are prepa-

red by the parent, ZEOR FINANZIARIA SPA, incorporated in 

Via Porta Pinciana, Rome, which will file them at the Rome 

Companies Register.

The Board of Directors

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Signed by Sergio Squarcialupi

Statement of compliance

Copy corresponding to documents retained at the company.

I, Sergio Squarcialupi, born in Arezzo on October 11, 1938, awa-

re of the criminal liability contemplated by Italian Presidential 

Decree 445/2000, Article 76 for false or misleading statements 

made under Article 47 of the same decree, hereby state that this 

document was produced by an optical scan of the analogous ori-

ginal, and that a comparison of this document with the original 

gave a positive result, in accordance with Council of Ministers 

Presidential Decree Article 4 of November 13, 2014.

STAMP DUTY PAID VIRTUALLY UNDER ITALIAN REVENUE 

AGENCY REGIONAL DIRECTORATE OF TUSCANY AU-

THORIZATION N, 25667 OF MAY 4, 2001.
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
pursuant to art. 14 of Legislative Decree 27 January 2010, no. 39  
 

To the Shareholders of  
Chimet S.p.A.  
 
 
 
Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Chimet S.p.A. (the Company), which comprise the statement 
of financial position as of 31 December 2018, the statement of income and the statement of cash flows for 
the year then ended and the explanatory notes.  

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company 
as of 31 December 2018 and of the result of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, in 
accordance with Italian regulations governing financial statements.  

 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements section of this report.  

We are independent of the Company in accordance with ethical requirements and standards applicable in 
Italy to the audit of financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Responsibilities of the directors and of the audit committee for the financial statements 

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in accordance with Italian regulations governing financial statements and, within the terms prescribed by 
law, for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

The directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and, in 
preparing the financial statements, for the appropriate use of the going concern assumption, as well as for 
a proper disclosure of matters related to going concern. The directors use the going concern basis of 
accounting in preparing the financial statements, unless they either intend to liquidate the Company or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing, within the terms prescribed by law, the Company’s 
financial reporting process. 
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

Opinion pursuant to art. 14, paragraph 2, letter e), of Legislative Decree 27 January 2010, no. 39  

The directors of Chimet S.p.A. are responsible for the preparation of the report on operations of Chimet 
S.p.A. as of 31 December 2018, including its consistency with the related financial statements and its 
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.  

We have performed the procedures required by auditing standard (SA Italia) no. 720B in order to express an 
opinion on the consistency of the report on operations with the financial statements of Chimet S.p.A. as of 
31 December 2018, and on its compliance with applicable laws and regulations, as well as to declare 
whether it contains material misstatements.  

In our opinion, the report on operations is consistent with the financial statements of Chimet S.p.A. as of 31 
December 2018 and complies with applicable laws and regulations. 

With respect to the statement pursuant to art. 14 paragraph 2 letter e) of Legislative Decree 27 January 
2010, no. 39, issued on the basis of our knowledge and understanding of the entity and its environment 
obtained in the course of the audit, we have nothing to report.  

 

Firenze (Italy), 11 April 2019  
 
 

BDO Italia S.p.A. 
 

Signed by 
Luigi Riccetti 

Partner 

  

 
 
 
This report has been translated into English from the original, that was prepared in Italian and represents 
the only authentic copy, solely for the convenience of international readers.  
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of the audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia), we have exercised 
professional judgment and maintained professional skepticism throughout the audit. Furthermore:  

▪ we have identified and assessed the risks of material misstatements in the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error; we have designed and performed audit procedures in response to 
those risks; we have obtained audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than the risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control;  

▪ we have obtained an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control;  

▪ we have evaluated the appropriateness of accounting principles used, as well as the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors; 

▪ we have reached a conclusion on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern 
assumption and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may raise significant doubts on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If a significant uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of this report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to 
continue as a going concern; 

▪ we have evaluated the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying events and 
transactions in a manner consistent with a fair presentation.  

We have communicated with those charged with governance, identified at the appropriate level as required 
by ISA Italia, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we have identified during our audit.  
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

Opinion pursuant to art. 14, paragraph 2, letter e), of Legislative Decree 27 January 2010, no. 39  

The directors of Chimet S.p.A. are responsible for the preparation of the report on operations of Chimet 
S.p.A. as of 31 December 2018, including its consistency with the related financial statements and its 
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.  

We have performed the procedures required by auditing standard (SA Italia) no. 720B in order to express an 
opinion on the consistency of the report on operations with the financial statements of Chimet S.p.A. as of 
31 December 2018, and on its compliance with applicable laws and regulations, as well as to declare 
whether it contains material misstatements.  

In our opinion, the report on operations is consistent with the financial statements of Chimet S.p.A. as of 31 
December 2018 and complies with applicable laws and regulations. 

With respect to the statement pursuant to art. 14 paragraph 2 letter e) of Legislative Decree 27 January 
2010, no. 39, issued on the basis of our knowledge and understanding of the entity and its environment 
obtained in the course of the audit, we have nothing to report.  

 

Firenze (Italy), 11 April 2019  
 
 

BDO Italia S.p.A. 
 

Signed by 
Luigi Riccetti 

Partner 

  

 
 
 
This report has been translated into English from the original, that was prepared in Italian and represents 
the only authentic copy, solely for the convenience of international readers.  
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